## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent was charged by information on February 1, 1993, with one count of carrying a concealed firearm (R 117). Respondent plead guilty as charged (R 147-148). The written plea agreement contained the following:

> 4. I have read the information or indictment in this case and I understand the charge(s) to which I enter my plea(s). My attorney has explained to me the total maximum penalties for the charge(s) and as a result I understand the following:

> > \*

c. That a hearing may hereafter be set and conducted in this case to determine if I qualify to be classified as a Habitual Felony Offender or a Violent Habitual Felony Offender, and :

(1) That should I be determined by the Judge to be a Violent Habitual Felony Offender, and should the judge sentence me as such, I could receive up to a maximum sentence of \_\_\_\_\_\_ years imprisonment and a mandatory minimum of \_\_\_\_\_ years imprisonment and that as to any habitual offender sentence I would not be entitled to receive any basic gain time.

(2) That should I be determined by the Judge to be a Non-Violent Habitual Felony Offender, and should the judge sentence me as such, I could receive up to a maximum sentence of \_\_\_\_\_\_ years imprisonment and a mandatory minimum of \_\_\_\_\_ years imprisonment and that as to any habitual offender sentence I would not be entitled to receive any basic gain time.

(R 147) (Appendix A). The plea agreement also set forth that respondent was aware of all of the provisions and representations of the plea agreement, that he discussed the plea agreement with his attorney and that he fully understood it (R 148). Respondent

signed the written plea agreement (R 148).

During the plea hearing held on February 26, 1993, respondent stated that he had thoroughly read the plea agreement (R 6). Respondent also stated he had an adequate opportunity to ask questions of his attorney about the plea agreement (R 6). Respondent understood the agreement and had no questions about it (R 7). Respondent stipulated to a factual basis based on the facts contained in the affidavits (R 8). The trial judge found freely, voluntarily, knowingly respondent's plea was and intelligently made and the plea was accepted (R 9). The plea agreement was filed on April 27, 1994 (R 147).

On April 15, 1993, the trial judge filed notice and order for separate proceeding to determine if appellant qualified as a habitual violent or habitual felony offender (R 118-119). On June 2, 1993, respondent filed a motion to withdraw plea (R 139-140). A hearing on the motion to withdraw plea was held (R 11-28, 29-34, 35-63, 68-115). Respondent testified that he had no idea he could be habitualized at the time he entered his plea (R 38). Respondent did not read every word of the plea agreement (R 39-40). On cross examination, respondent testified he did read the plea agreement, but he guessed he did not understand the portion of the plea agreement concerning habitual offender sentence (R 45-46). If respondent had understood the plea agreement, he would not have pled (R 48-49).

The attorney representing respondent at the time he pled guilty testified that he went over the plea agreement paragraph by

paragraph with respondent (R 81). The attorney testified that he told respondent a third degree felony is five years max; if its habitual offender then 10 years; if its violent, it can be 5 years mandatory minimum (R 84-85). Respondent just wanted to get the case over with (R 86). The trial judge denied the motion to withdraw plea (R 101-104, 162).

The sentencing hearing was held on January 31, 1994, after the ruling on the motion to withdraw plea (R 104-115). There were no objections to the PSI or the scoresheet (R 105). Respondent had no submission to make as to whether he should be habitualized (R 106). The trial judge found, based upon respondent's prior convictions, that respondent qualified as a habitual felony offender (R 106-107, 163-164, 176-177). Respondent told the judge he was sorry for committing the crime and that he had done those things in the past (R 109-110). Respondent was adjudicated guilty and placed on three years probation (R 111, 166-171).

Respondent appealed his conviction and sentence to the Fifth District Court of Appeal (R 178). On January 27, 1995, the Fifth District vacated respondent's sentence and remanded pursuant to the Fifth District's opinion in <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 638 So. 2d 116 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), <u>review pending</u>, case no. 83,951. <u>Nattress v. State</u>, 648 So. 2d 1254 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) (Appendix B). In <u>Thompson</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Fifth District found that the acknowledgement contained in the plea agreement of the penalties that the defendant could receive if habitualized was insufficient to constitute notice of intent to habitualize. The acknowledgement found to be lacking in

Thompson is the same as that found in respondent's plea agreement (R 147); Thompson, at 117.

Petitioner filed a notice to invoke jurisdiction. Jurisdictional briefs were filed by both petitioner and respondent. On May 5, 1995, this court accepted jurisdiction.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fifth District erred in determining that the plea agreement in this case was insufficient to give respondent notice that he may be sentenced as a habitual offender. Respondent read, understood, signed and discussed the plea agreement with his The plea agreement set forth that respondent could be attorney. habitualized, the maximum sentence he faced and that he would not be entitled to gain time. Petitioner asserts this was sufficient notice. It is both improper and impossible to inform a defendant that he "will" be habitualized; the most that may be said is a defendant may or possibly could be habitualized. If the plea agreement was insufficient notice, any error in failing to give respondent separate written notice was harmless as respondent had actual notice that he may be habitualized. The decision in this case should be quashed, respondent's conviction and sentence reinstated and the decision in Thompson, supra, overruled.

Furthermore, this court should re-examine and clarify its decision in <u>Ashley</u>, <u>infra</u>. The decision in this case and in <u>Thompson</u>, <u>supra</u>, crystallizes the problems inherent in the practical application of this court's decision in <u>Ashley</u>, <u>infra</u>. <u>Thompson</u>, <u>supra</u>, and the other cases cited herein indicate that <u>Ashley</u>, <u>infra</u>, raised more questions than it answered. <u>Ashley</u>, <u>infra</u>, should be clarified to reflect that notice which states only the possibility that a defendant may be habitualized is sufficient. Also, the affect of gain time or early release on a defendant's sentence is a collateral consequence, not a direct consequence.

<u>Ashley</u>, <u>infra</u>, should be clarified to reflect that a trial judge need only inform a defendant of the maximum possible sentence which may be imposed, not that he or she may serve more or less of that sentence depending upon which sentencing scheme the defendant is sentenced under. Finally, <u>Ashley</u> should be clarified as to whether or not an objection is required to preserve the issue for appellate review where some form of notice was given and the defendant later claims the notice was insufficient.

#### ARGUMENT

### POINT ON APPEAL

THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENT HAD NOT BEEN GIVEN NOTICE OF THE INTENT TO HABITUALIZE PRIOR TO RESPONDENT ENTERING HIS PLEA; THE PLEA FORM RESPONDENT SIGNED, READ AND UNDERSTOOD GAVE RESPONDENT SUFFICIENT NOTICE, AS IT SET FORTH THE MAXIMUM SENTENCE THAT COULD BE IMPOSED IF HABITUALIZED RESPONDENT WAS AND THAT RESPONDENT WOULD NOT BE ENTITLED TO BASIC GAIN TIME; DUE TO THE CONFUSION CREATED BY THIS COURT'S DECISION IN ASHLEY, INFRA, THIS COURT SHOULD REVISIT AND CLARIFY ASHLEY.

In the instant case, a separate written notice of intent to habitualize was not filed prior to the entry of respondent's plea. However, unlike in <u>Ashley v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 1993), the failure to file a separate written notice is not fatal in this case. The plea agreement which respondent read, understood and signed set forth the following:

4. I have read the information or indictment in this case and I understand the charge(s) to which I enter my plea(s). My attorney has explained to me the total maximum penalties for the charge(s) and as a result I understand the following:

\*

c. That a hearing may hereafter be set and conducted in this case to determine if I qualify to be classified as a Habitual Felony Offender or a Violent Habitual Felony Offender, and :

(1) That should I be determined by the Judge to be a Violent Habitual Felony Offender, and should the judge sentence me as such, I could receive up to a maximum sentence of <u>10</u> years imprisonment and a mandatory minimum of <u>5</u> years imprisonment and that as to any habitual offender sentence I would not be entitled to receive any basic gain time. (2) That should I be determined by the Judge to be a Non-Violent Habitual Felony Offender, and should the judge sentence me as such, I could receive up to a maximum sentence of <u>10</u> years imprisonment and a mandatory minimum of <u>--</u> years imprisonment and that as to any habitual offender sentence I would not be entitled to receive any basic gain time.

· \* ·

(R 147) (Appendix A). Furthermore, the attorney who represented respondent at the time he entered his plea testified that he told respondent what sentence he was facing if he was found to be a habitual offender (R 84-85). Respondent just wanted to get the case over with (R 86). Petitioner asserts that the written plea agreement complied with section 775.084(3)(b), Fla. Stat. (1991) and this court's decision in <u>Ashley</u>, <u>supra</u>.

Petitioner asserts that the Fifth District's decision in this case and in <u>Thompson</u>, <u>supra</u>, is incorrect. In <u>Thompson</u>, the Fifth District held that a plea agreement which contained the identical language set forth above was insufficient notice as required by section 775.084 and <u>Ashley</u>, <u>supra</u>. In <u>Thompson</u>, the Fifth district overruled their prior decision in <u>Oglesby v. State</u>, 627 So. 2d 585 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993), <u>rev. denied</u>, Case no. 82, 987 (Fla. March 11, 1994),<sup>1</sup> wherein they held that the identical language in a plea agreement satisfied <u>Ashley</u> and that the harmless error analysis of <u>Massey v. State</u>, 609 So. 2d 598 (Fla. 1992), applied.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>(Appendix C)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Oglesby sought review by this court based upon conflict with <u>Ashley</u>. This court denied review. Petitioner asserts that by declining to accept jurisdiction this court approved the decision

Petitioner asserts that the Fifth District not only elevated form over substance in reaching the decision it did in <u>Thompson</u>, but also ignored this court's decision in <u>Massey v. State</u>, 609 So. 2d 598 (Fla. 1992). The majority in <u>Thompson</u> likewise ignored the sound and logical reasoning of Judge Goshorn's dissent. Petitioner further arrests that the decision in <u>Thompson</u>, <u>supra</u>, not only expands the decision in <u>Ashley</u>, but crystallizes the problems inherent in the practical application of <u>Ashley</u>.

Section 775.084(3)(b) provides:

Written notice shall be served on the defendant and his attorney a sufficient time prior to the entry of a plea or prior to the imposition of sentence so as to allow the preparation of a submission on behalf of the defendant.

The purpose of the notice requirement is to prevent a defendant from being surprised at sentencing and to allow the defendant and/or the defendant's attorney the opportunity to prepare for the hearing. <u>Massey</u>, at 600; <u>see also Roberts v. State</u>, 559 So. 2d 289, 291 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). Section 775.084(3)(b) does not specify the form the written notice must take or the words the notice must or must not contain.

The Fifth District has elevated form to a new height over substance in <u>Thompson</u>. In finding the written plea agreement to be insufficient to give the defendant notice of habitual offender sentencing, petitioner asserts that the Fifth District found that the procedural aspect or the actual written notice was of paramount

in <u>Oglesby</u>.

importance to the substantive purpose, preparation of a submission in the defendant's behalf. Petitioner asserts that such a finding places the importance on the wrong portion of section 775.084(3)(b).

In this case, the plea agreement stated that a hearing may be set to determine if respondent qualified as a habitual felony or violent felony offender (R 147) (Appendix A). The plea agreement set forth the maximum sentences respondent was facing if found to be a habitual offender. Furthermore, the attorney who represented respondent at the time he entered his plea testified that he told respondent what sentence he was facing if he was found to be a habitual offender (R 84-85). Respondent just wanted to get the case over with (R 86). Respondent asserts that the written plea agreement plus the advice from his attorney was sufficient notice.

Should this court determine that the plea agreement was insufficient written notice, respondent had actual notice and any failure to provide separate written notice was harmless in this case pursuant to <u>Massey</u>, <u>supra</u>. The Fifth District in <u>Oglesby</u> found that <u>Massey</u> applied to such situations. The Fifth District ignored <u>Massey</u> in overruling <u>Oglesby</u>. <u>See Thompson</u>, <u>supra</u>. Petitioner asserts that it was error for the Fifth District to ignore <u>Massey</u>, as <u>Massey</u> is applicable to the instant case.

In <u>Massey</u>, at 598-599, Massey had actual knowledge that he may be sentenced as a habitual felony offender although he was never served with written notice. This court found any error was harmless. <u>Id</u>. at 600. In the instant case, the plea agreement

informed respondent that he could be sentenced as a habitual felony offender and gave respondent and his attorney an opportunity to prepare for the hearing. Respondent went over the agreement with his lawyer prior to entering his plea, understood the agreement and signed the agreement. Respondent's attorney went over the maximum sentences respondent was facing if found to be a habitual offender.

Petitioner asserts that the purpose of the written notice requirement was accomplished in this case, as respondent had actual notice that he could be facing a habitual offender sentence and what that maximum sentence was. Respondent was given an opportunity to prepare for the hearing. Respondent gave the trial judge no reasons why he should not have been habitualized. "It is inconceivable that [respondent] was prejudiced by not having received the written notice [prior to the entry of his plea]." Massey, at 600. The failure to provide written notice was harmless in this case. Massey, supra; Lewis v. State, 636 So. 2d 154 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); Mansfield v. State, 618 So. 2d 1385 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993); see also Lucas v. State, 630 So. 2d 597 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (any error in failing to determine that predicate offense had not been pardoned or set aside was harmless); Critton v. State, 619 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (same); Green v. State, 623 So. 2d 1237 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (any error in habitualization was harmless); Suarez v. State, 616 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) (any error in failing to make required statutory findings was harmless where defendant accepted habitual offender sentence and waived right to hearing); Bonaventure v. State, 637 So. 2d 55 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994)

(where evidence unrebutted, error in failing to make specific findings in support of habitual offender sentence was harmless); <u>Pompa v. State</u>, 635 So. 2d 114 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) (same).

In <u>Thompson</u> and this case, the Fifth District held that the acknowledgement in the written plea agreement did not comply with <u>Ashley</u> because the plea agreement said that respondent may be sentenced as a habitual offender rather than respondent would be sentenced as a habitual offender. Petitioner asserts that this court did not hold in <u>Ashley</u> that a defendant must be told unequivocally that he would be sentenced as a habitual offender grior to entering his plea, only that he may or possibly could be facing such a sentence. The Fifth District played a game of semantics which did not need to and should not have been played.

In Ashley, at 480, this court held that

in order for a defendant to be habitualized following a guilty or nolo plea, the following must take place prior to acceptance of the plea: 1) The defendant must be given written notice of intent to habitualize, and 2) the court must confirm that the defendant is personally aware of the **possibility** and reasonable consequences of habitualization. (Footnote omitted; emphasis added).

In reaching this holding, this court set forth the following:

offender Because habitual maximums clearly constitute the "maximum possible penalty provided by law"--exceeding both the guidelines and standard statutory maximums -and because habitual offender sentences are imposed in a significant number of cases, our ruling in Williams [v. State, 316 So. 2d 267 (Fla. 1975),] and the plain language of [Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure] 3.172 require that before a court may accept a guilty or nolo plea from an eligible defendant it must ascertain that the defendant is aware

of the **possibility** and reasonable consequences of habitualization. To state the obvious, in order for the plea to be "knowing," i.e., in order for the defendant to understand the reasonable consequences of his or her plea, the defendant must "know" beforehand that his or her potential sentence **may be** many times greater what it ordinarily would have been under the guidelines . .

Ashley, at 489 (emphasis added).

There is nothing in <u>Ashley</u> to indicate that this court intended that a defendant be told prior to entering his plea that he would, as the Fifth District held, be sentenced as a habitual felony offender. Furthermore, section 775.084(3)(b) does not specify the form the written notice must take or the words it must or must not contain. According to <u>Ashley</u>, the defendant must only know of the **possibility** that such sentencing **may** occur. The Fifth District ignored the plain language of <u>Ashley</u>.

The use of the word "may" in the plea agreement told respondent of the possibility that he could be sentenced as a habitual felony offender. It would be not only improper, but impossible to tell a defendant that he will be sentenced as a habitual offender, as opposed to telling the defendant he or she may be habitualized. While a defendant may have the requisite convictions, the state may be unable to document those convictions. If the state is unable to offer certified judgements and sentences and the defendant does not stipulate to his prior record, the defendant will not be found to be a habitual offender. In such a case, having told the defendant that he would be habitualized was error and may be grounds for the defendant to withdraw his plea.

If part of the plea agreement was that the defendant would be sentenced as a habitual offender and the defendant was not so sentenced, the state would also have grounds for invalidating the plea agreement. The purpose of the notice is not to inform the defendant that he or she will be habitualized, but rather that he or she may be habitualized.

Furthermore, as pointed out by the dissent of Judge Goshorn in <u>Thompson</u>, at 118, "[t]here are consequences, both legal and practical" to the state or the trial judge advising a defendant that he will be habitualized.

Requiring the court to announce to a defendant, before accepting his or her plea, the court will (as opposed to may) that habitualize requires the court to make its decision prior to receipt and review of a presentence investigation, section 921.231, (1993), prior to a sentencing Fla. Stat. hearing and prior to review of any victim impact, section 921.143, Fla. Stat. (1993), all of which is contrary to the requirements of a sentencing hearing and is sure to raise additional legal challenges and charges that habitualization is being imposed indiscriminately. Likewise, to require the state to announce that it will (as opposed to mav) attempt to habitualize will provide further fodder to the voices challenging the state's use of the habitual offender statutes. In this regard, I note that often at or immediately before a plea, the trial court, the state and indeed the defendant, are unaware of the defendant's exact criminal Accordingly, the court can only history. announce that, if the defendant's history so justifies, the court may consider or the state may seek to habitualize the defendant.

Thompson, at 118-119. Petitioner respectfully requests this court clarify its decision in <u>Ashley</u> to reflect that all that is required for the notice requirement to be met is that the defendant be aware that he or she may or possibly could be sentenced as a habitual felony or violent felony offender. As set forth above by petitioner and Judge Goshorn, this court could not have intended in <u>Ashley</u> that a defendant be told he would be sentenced as a habitual offender, as such would clearly be improper.

Another obvious problem with this court's decision in Ashley is its determination that the affect of gain time or early release on a defendant's sentence is a direct consequence of a plea. While petitioner agrees that a defendant should be told prior to entering a plea that he or she may be habitualized which means the possibility of an enhanced sentenced being imposed, petitioner respectfully submits that this court was in error when it also determined in Ashley that a defendant should be told that "habitualization may affect the possibility of early release through certain programs, . . . " Ashley, at 490 n.8. This court appears to have confused the amount of time a defendant may actually serve in jail with the maximum sentence which may be imposed upon a defendant. While a defendant should be aware of the maximum penalty he faces, whether as a habitual offender or not, petitioner asserts that how much of that sentence the defendant may actually serve due to the various types of gain time or early release is irrelevant.

In deciding <u>Ashley</u>, this court relied on <u>Boykin v. Alabama</u>, 395 U.S. 238, 242, 89 S. Ct. 1709 (1969); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 316 So. 2d 267 (Fla. 1975); <u>Black v. State</u>, 599 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.172(c)(1); and

Professor LaFave. As will be set forth below, not one of these five authorities holds that a defendant should be told that he or she will not receive gain time or will not be entitled to some form of early release if habitualized.

In Boykin, supra, the United States Supreme Court addressed the acceptance of a guilty plea without an affirmative showing that the plea was intelligent and voluntary. Nowhere in Boykin did the court hold that in order for a plea to be knowing the defendant must know that under certain sentencing schemes he or she may not be entitled to early release and may have to serve the entire sentence imposed. Petitioner asserts that the receiving of gain time or some other form of early release is not a constitutional right. Gain time and early release programs are a creation of the state legislature and can be changed or taken away at anytime by the legislature. See generally Ch. 93-406, Laws of Fla. (repealing section 944.277); Op. Att'y. Gen. 92-96 (1992); Dugger v. Grant, 610 So. 2d 428 (Fla. 1992); Waite v. Singletary, 632 So. 2d 192 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994). It is impossible for anyone to accurately predict how future changes will affect a particular defendant's sentence.

In <u>Ashley</u>, at 488, this court quoted from <u>Williams</u>, <u>supra</u>. The <u>Williams</u> decision set forth the three essential requirements for taking a guilty plea. <u>Id</u>. at 271. The second requirement is that the "defendant must understand the nature of the charge and the consequences of his [or her] plea. The purpose of this requirement is to ensure that he [or she] knows . . . what maximum

penalty may be imposed for the offense with which he [or she] is charged." <u>Id.; see also Hinman v. United States</u>, 730 F.2d 649 (11th Cir. 1984) (district court need only advise a defendant as to the charges, the mandatory minimum penalty and the maximum possible sentence). No where in <u>Williams</u> did this court hold that a consequence of a plea included any reference to whether a defendant would or would not receive gain time or be entitled to some other early release program. The consequence is the maximum sentence which may be imposed, <u>NOT</u> the amount of gain time or other form of early release a defendant will or will not receive.

In order for a plea to be knowing, this court in Ashley, at 489, stated that the defendant must know the maximum possible sentence "and that he or she will have to serve more of it." This court then noted that this view was endorsed by the First District's decision in <u>Black</u>, <u>supra</u>, and Professor LaFave. In quoting from the Black decision, this court quoted from Judge Zehmer's special concurrence. Judge Zehmer did not state that a defendant must be told that he or she will not receive the same amount of gain time if habitualized. While Judge Zehmer stated that the trial judge failed to determine if Black understood the significance of being sentenced as a career criminal, petitioner asserts that the "significance" referred to is not that Black would receive less gain time, but that Black was facing a maximum sentence that was double what the plea agreement indicated. Neither the majority nor the concurrence in <u>Black</u> hold that a defendant must be told he or she will not receive the same amount

of gain time as someone who was not habitualized.

Furthermore, Professor LaFave likewise does not support this court's determination that a defendant should be told that as a habitual offender he or she will serve more of his or her sentence. Professor LaFave's only endorsement is that a defendant should be told of the maximum possible penalty that could be imposed. Professor LaFave makes no mention that a defendant should be told he or she may have to serve more of a sentence depending upon under which sentencing scheme the defendant is sentenced. <u>See</u> 2 Wayne R. LaFave & Jerold H. Israel, <u>Criminal Procedure</u> section 20.4 (1984).

Finally, petitioner asserts that rule 3.172(c)(1) does not require that a defendant be told that if habitualized he will serve a greater portion of his sentence. See State v. Will, 645 So. 2d 91, 95 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994). This court has previously held that rule 3.172(c) "sets forth the required areas of inquiry when the trial court accepts a plea." Id.; State v. Ginebra, 511 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 1987). Rule 3.172(c)(1) requires only that a defendant understand "the nature of the charge to which the plea is offered, the mandatory minimum penalty provided by law, if any, and the maximum possible penalty provided by law . . . " Petitioner asserts that the maximum possible penalty provided by law does not mean the maximum possible sentence less gain time or some other form of early release. The maximum possible penalty provided by law for a third degree felony is five years unless a habitual offender sentence is to be imposed. The maximum possible penalty then doubles and becomes ten years. Irrespective of gain time or early

release, the maximum possible time a defendant may be incarcerated for a third degree felony is either 5 years or 10 years as a habitual felony offender.<sup>3</sup> As the Second District stated in <u>Simmons v. State</u>, 611 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992):

> . . . It is one thing, however, to insist that a defendant be warned his sentence may be extended, and another to require an additional warning that a determinate sentence will not later be shortened.

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