1000 A

FILED
SID J. WHITE
JUN 28 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By \_\_\_\_\_\_
Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 85,132

RONALD S. NATTRESS,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

MERITS BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

JAMES DICKSON CROCK, P.A.

JAMES DICKSON CROCK, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 307051 315 Silver Beach Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (904) 255-9202

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying the Respondent's Motion to Withdraw Plea and by ultimately habitualizing him. Neither the State nor the trial court made any oral or written statement of their intent to habitualize the Respondent either at the instant plea colloquy or prior thereto. The Fifth District Court of Appeals ruled, en banc, in Thompson v. State, 638 So.2d 116 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), that "notice" from a form plea agreement of the possibility of later habitualization under the habitual offender statute was insufficient to allow the Respondent to make a knowing and intelligent decision to enter a plea. As a result, the instant "Motion to Withdraw Plea" should have been granted. However, since the time of his original sentencing the Defendant's probation has been revoked and his sentence terminated. Therefore, he requests of this Honorable Court that his designation as an habitual offender be vacated.

## ARGUMENT

#### POINT ON APPEAL

The Petitioner in its "Merits Brief" argued repeatedly that the Fifth District had elevated <u>form</u> to a new height over <u>substance</u> in both the instant cause and <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 638 So.2d 116 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) <u>review pending</u>, (case no. 83,951).

In <u>Ashley v. State</u>, 614 So.2d 488 (Fla. 1993), this Honorable Court cited <u>Boykin v. Alabama</u>, 395 U.S. 238,242, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969) for the proposition that: "Before a trial judge can accept a plea of guilty or nolo contendere there must be 'an <u>affirmative showing</u> that it was intelligent and voluntary,' <u>Id.</u>, at 242, for what is at stake for an accused facing death or possible imprisonment demands the utmost solicitude of which courts are capable in canvassing the matter with the accused to make sure he has a full understanding of what the plea connotes and of its consequences." <u>Id.</u>, at 243-44 (<u>Ashley</u>, at 488 emphasis added.)

The instant Respondent completed nine years of formal schooling and later obtained a "GED" diploma of high school equivalence. Prior to his arrest, he was employed as a factory worker. (R 47-48)

On or about February 26, 1993, the public defender was appointed to represent Mr. Nattress at the time of his arraignment.

(R 147) At said arraignment, the Respondent entered his plea to the charge of carrying a concealed firearm simultaneously with the

taking of pleas in three other entirely unrelated cases involving Defendants named Walden, Rogers, and Soros. (R 1-10)

Mr. Nattress was simply asked if he had read, signed, and understood the standardized written plea form by the court. The court further asked if the Respondent had an adequate opportunity to ask questions of his attorney about the agreement. No other specific colloquy with the Respondent was conducted by the court. There was no specific or even generalized reference made to paragraph four of the standard plea form during said colloquy. (R 1-10)

The "utmost solicitude" required by the <u>Boykin</u> court (see above) consisted of a quick plea at arraignment, with three other unrelated defendants, an attorney appointed at said proceeding, and an equally quick non-specific colloquy with the trial judge. Most importantly, a passing reference that habitual penalties "could" theoretically be applied were listed in a "standardized" form pleading whose Paragraph four (c) simply explains:

That should I be determined by the Judge to be a non-violent habitual felony offender, and should the Judge sentence me as such, I could receive up to a maximum sentence of 10 years imprisonment and a mandatory minimum of years imprisonment and that as to any habitual offender sentence I would not be entitled to receive any basic gain time.

(R-147) (emphasis added)

The requirements of <u>Ashley</u> requiring written notice <u>and</u> confirmation by the court that the Defendant is personally aware of the possibility and reasonable consequences of habitualization were met solely by said standardized paragraph.

Nearly two months after the Respondent's plea, the trial judge filed a "Notice and Order for Separate Proceeding to Determine if Defendant is a Habitual Felony Offender" on his own motion. (R 118-119) The State of Florida never joined in requesting that the Respondent be treated as a habitual offender.

Neither the trial court nor the State of Florida indicated any intention to treat the Respondent as a habitual offender either at the plea colloquy or prior thereto.

The Respondent himself testified that he had "no idea" that he faced ultimate habitualization at the time of entering his plea. Nattress further noted that he believed he would "get probation" and "go to treatment.:" (R-38) Nattress added that he would not have entered his initial plea if he understood that either the court or the State intended to habitualize him. (R 40)

The State argues that the aforementioned "standardized paragraph" satisfied the notice requirement's purpose of preventing surprise. The instant Defendant, upon receiving the trial Judge's notice of intent to habitualize on April 17, 1994 was so surprised and dismayed that he hastily fired the Public Defender, hired private counsel 12 days later, filed a motion to withdraw his plea, and diligently pursued it through numerous hearings over a seven and one half month period from June 1994 to January 1995.

In <u>Thompson</u>, the Fifth District Court of Appeal ruled on rehearing, en banc, in favor of the Respondent/Appellant on an identical issue.

In Thompson, the Respondent acknowledged:

That should I be determined by the Judge to be a violent habitual felony offender, and should the Judge sentence me as such, I could receive up to a maximum sentence of 50 years imprisonment and a mandatory minimum of 20 years imprisonment and that as to any habitual offender sentence I would not be entitled to receive any basic gain time.

(At 1222) (emphasis added)

In <u>Thompson</u>, the court accepted the plea on October 12, 1993, and the trial judge filed a Notice and Order for Separate Proceeding to Determine if Defendant is Habitual Felony Offender or Habitual Violent Felony Offender on November 12, one month after the instant plea.

Interestingly, the instant causes's trial judge, the Honorable John W. Watson, III, was also the trial judge in <u>Thompson</u>.

The <u>Thompson</u> Court found that the requirements of <u>Ashley v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 614 So.2d 486 (Fla. 1993) were not met. The court noted that:

Ashley requires that the defendant must be made aware prior to his plea that either the State intends to seek habitual offender treatment or that the court intends on its own to consider habitual offender treatment at sentencing. The previously quoted provision in the form negotiated plea does not suggest that the defendant will be considered for habitual offender treatment; it merely informs him generally as to the maximum sentence if he is so considered.

The Thompson court further noted that:

Ashley requires that the defendant be made aware that someone (the State or the Judge) will seek habitual offender treatment prior to his plea so that he can take that into account in deciding whether or not to plead. Merely

advising him that the law may possibly be applicable to him (the statute itself gives him that notice) is not the same as advising him that someone will actively seek to apply it against him.

(At 1222)

Thus, not only did the Respondent have little education in the instant cause, and the "benefit" of counsel appointed at the time of arraignment and entry of the plea, but Mr. Nattress also did not have access to any written or oral confirmation that the State or the Judge would pursue habitualization against him. He therefore did not have the ability to make a voluntary and intelligent decision to enter the instant plea. To rule otherwise would be to exalt the standardized plea form over substance in the instant cause, and to make a mockery of the law laid out in Boykin and Ashley. The State argues that a practical application of Ashley, as now construed is impossible. What is apparent from the instant circumstances is that the practical or typical taking of pleas is so haphazard and fraught with constitutional pitfalls that the specific application of the Ashley requirements is not only practical but fundamentally necessary, and the lack thereof is certainly not harmless error.

The Respondent also maintains that the notice required by Florida Statute 775.084(3)(b) is to be issued only by the State Attorney's Office. In the instant cause only the trial judge issued a notice of intent to habitualize.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal recently noted that:

the judge's ability to initiate habitual offender treatment has been placed in doubt by the enactment of Section 775.08401, Florida Statutes (1993). . . {and} may very well have "repealed."

Tolliver v. State, 605 So.2d 477 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), rev. denied 618 So.2d 212 (Fla. 1993).

<u>Santoro v. State</u>, 644 So.2d 585, 586 n.4 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), jurisdiction accepted no.84,758 (Fla. February 22,1995).

On the basis of the legislative intent in said statute and the clear appearance of impropriety and partiality of having notice issued by the trial judge, rather than the trial prosecutor, it is the Respondent's contention that the instant notice is deficient on these grounds as well.

As a result of the foregoing, Respondent's Motion to Withdraw the Plea, made on a timely basis before sentencing, should have been originally granted. However, since the time of sentencing Respondent has completed his term of imprisonment. As a result, it is no longer in his best interests to seek withdrawal of his plea. Nonetheless, the imposition of habitualization was in error and must now be vacated.

#### CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing authorities and arguments of counsel, it is respectfully requested that this Honorable Court vacate the instant judgement and sentence's imposition of habitual offender status upon the Respondent.